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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT KNOXVILLE 
 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  ) 
      )  No. 3:12-CR-00107 
v.      )               
      ) Hon. Amul R. Thapar, USDJ 
MICHAEL R. WALLI,   ) Hon. C. Clifford Shirley, Jr., USMJ 
MEGAN RICE, and    )  
GREG BOERTJE-OBED   )       
 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’ RULE 29 MOTION FOR  
JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL 

 
Defendants, through undersigned counsel, respectfully move this Honorable Court, 

pursuant to Rule 29(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, for a judgment of acquittal on 

the grounds that the evidence presented by the United States at trial during the prosecution’s 

direct case was insufficient to sustain a conviction of Defendants under 18 U.S.C. § 2155.  

Specifically, and for the reasons set forth below, Defendants contend that the United States failed 

to prove that they had the requisite intent to interfere with the national defense of the United 

States beyond a reasonable doubt. 

This Court will have to create new law in the Sixth Circuit in order to rule in the 

prosecution’s favor on this motion.  Not a single prosecution witness provided evidence 

sufficient to meet one of the critical elements of the crime charged—intent by defendants to 

injure, interfere or obstruct the national defense of the U.S.—much less proof beyond a 

reasonable doubt.  Further, the national defense was not in fact harmed by defendants’ actions.  

For this Court to deny this Rule 29 motion, it would have to rule that any trespass on any 

national defense premises which includes any damage at all made with the intent to publicly 

oppose government policy is sufficient to prove intent to damage the national defense of the 
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United States and constitute sabotage.  Such a ruling is inconsistent with Sixth Circuit precedent, 

the plain words and intent of Rule 29, and of reason itself. 

   

I.  PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

Sister Megan Rice, Michael Walli, and Greg Boertje-Obed, collectively the Defendants, 

were charged by an indictment with two Counts: (1) willfully injuring national defense premises 

with intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the national defense in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 

2155 (Count I); and (2) willfully injuring or committing a depredation against the property of the 

United States and causing more than $1,000 worth of damage in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1361 

(Count II).   

On May 6, 2013, Defendants went to trial on these two charges.  At the close of the 

Government’s case in chief, Defendants moved for a Rule 29 judgment of acquittal on Count I.1  

At that time, this Honorable Court elected to reserve its ruling on the Rule 29 motion until after 

the jury verdict and asked for briefing on the issue following the trial.  On May 8, 2013, after a 

three-day trial, a jury found Defendants guilty of both Counts.  After the verdict, Defendants 

renewed their Rule 29 Motion.  At that time, this Court set June 24, 2013 as the deadline for 

Defendants to submit their Rule 29 brief.  On June 17, 2013, Defendants moved for an extension 

of time to file their Rule 29 brief due to delays in receiving the transcript of the trial.  See R. 186.  

By Order dated June 19, 2013, this Court granted Defendants’ motion for extension of time in 

which to file their brief and set the new deadline for July 19, 2013.2  See R. 188.   

                                                        
1 Note that per this Court’s request, Defendants also moved for a Rule 29 judgment of acquittal 
on Count II.  This Motion was denied by the Court.   
2 The June 19, 2013 Order actually stated that the deadline was Friday, July 18, 2013.  However, 
July 18 actually falls on a Thursday.  Counsel for the defense contacted the Judge’s chambers 
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II.  SIXTH CIRCUIT STANDARD FOR GRANTING JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL 
UNDER RULE 29 
 

A Rule 29 motion for judgment of acquittal is “a challenge to the sufficiency of the 

evidence.”  See U.S. v. King, 169 F.3d 1035, 1038 (6th Cir. 1999) (internal quotations omitted).  

As one leading treatise states, a “judgment for acquittal . . . is an important safeguard to the 

defendant.  It tests the sufficiency of the evidence against defendant, and avoids the risk that a 

jury may capriciously find him guilty though there is no legally sufficient evidence of guilt.”  2A 

Charles A. Wright, Fed. Prac. & Proc. Crim. § 461 (4th ed. 2013).  

Specifically, Rule 29(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that “[a]fter 

the government closes its evidence or after the close of all the evidence, the court on the 

defendant’s motion must enter a judgment of acquittal of any offense for which the evidence is 

insufficient to sustain a conviction.”  Under Rule 29(b), “[t]he court may reserve decision on the 

motion, proceed with the trial (where the motion is made before the close of all the evidence), 

submit the case to the jury, and decide the motion either before the jury returns a verdict or after 

it returns a verdict of guilty or is discharged without having returned a verdict.”  Importantly, 

“[i]f the court reserves decision, it must decide the motion on the basis of the evidence at the 

time the ruling was reserved.”  Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(b). 

The relevant question in assessing a Rule 29 motion is “whether after viewing the 

evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found 

the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.”  See United States v. Garrido, 

467 F.3d 971, 984 (6th Cir. 2006) (citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979) 

(emphasis in the original)).  A court may properly conclude a conviction is supported by 

                                                                                                                                                                                   
and were told that it was a mistake and that the actual deadline is on Friday, July 19, 2013.  This 
has been documented in Defendants’ Motion for Clarification, Record Document 198. 
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sufficient evidence even though the government has presented only circumstantial evidence, and 

even though such evidence does not exclude every reasonable hypothesis except that of guilt. 

United States v. Clay, 346 F.3d 173, 176 (6th Cir. 2003).  

Importantly, however, “[t]he prosecution . . . must present substantial evidence as to each 

element of the offense from which a jury could find the accused guilty beyond a reasonable 

doubt.”  Brown v. Davis, 752 F.2d 1142, 1145 (6th Cir. 1985) (internal citation omitted) 

(emphasis added). “Substantial evidence is more than a scintilla.  It means such relevant 

evidence as a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion.  It is evidence affording a 

substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be reasonably inferred.” United States v. 

Martin, 375 F.2d 956, 957 (6th Cir. 1967).  And furthermore, although circumstantial evidence 

alone can support a conviction, there are times that it amounts to only a reasonable speculation 

and not to sufficient evidence. Newman v. Metrish, 543 F.3d 793, 796 (6th Cir. 2008).   

 

III.  THE UNITED STATES FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO 
PROVE EVERY ELEMENT OF COUNT I, AND THEREFORE, DEFENDANTS ARE 
ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL UNDER RULE 29 
 

The key to this Rule 29 motion is whether the prosecution provided evidence beyond a 

reasonable doubt that defendants damaged national defense premises with the intent to injure, 

interfere with, or obstruct the national defense of the United States.  

 
A.  Elements of Count I 
 
 Defendants were charged in Count I of the indictment under 18 U.S.C. § 2155 which 

provides in relevant part:  

Whoever, with intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the national defense of 
the United States, willfully injures, destroys, contaminates or infects, or attempts 
to so injure, destroy, contaminate or infect any national-defense material, 
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national-defense premises, or national-defense utilities, shall be fined under this 
title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both, and, if death results to any 
person, shall be imprisoned for any term of years or for life. 
 

See 18 U.S.C. § 2155. 
 
Specifically, in this case, the jury was instructed that in order to convict each Defendant 

under 18 U.S.C. § 2155, the government had to prove each of the following elements beyond a 

reasonable doubt for each Defendant: (1) the Defendant willfully injured, destroyed, 

contaminated, infected, or attempted to injure, destroy, contaminate or infect, any national-

defense premises; (2) the Defendant did so with the intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the 

national defense of the United States; and (3) the Defendant did so in the Eastern District of 

Tennessee on or about July 28, 2013.  See Jury Instruction No. 13, Doc. 170, p. 16.   

The jury was further instructed with regard to the second element that: “[t]he intent 

requirement means intent to interfere with what may commonly be taken as a country’s activities 

of national preparedness and not intent to act to what one subjectively believed to be the 

detriment of the United States.”  Id.  Furthermore, with regard to intent, “the government must 

prove beyond a reasonable doubt either that (1) it was the defendant’s conscious desire or 

purpose to act in a certain way or to cause a certain result, or that (2) the defendant knew that 

he/she was acting in that way or would be practically certain to cause that result.”  Jury 

Instruction No. 15, Doc. 170, p. 19. 

Additionally, the jury was instructed that the term “national defense” is a “generic 

concept of broad connotations referring to military establishments and the related activities of 

national preparedness.”  Jury Instruction No. 14, Doc. 170, p. 18. 
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B. Insufficiency of the Government’s Evidence to Prove Beyond a Reasonable Doubt 
Defendants’ Intent to Injure, Interfere With, or Obstruct the National Defense of the 
United States  
 
 Defendants submit that based on these instructions set forth above, the United States 

failed to present sufficient evidence in its case in chief to prove the second element required for 

Count I—that Defendants had the intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the national defense 

of the United States.  As set forth in detail below, even viewing the government’s evidence in the 

light most favorable to the government, a rational juror could not find that Defendants had the 

requisite intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the national defense of the United States, 

beyond a reasonable doubt.  As a result, Defendants are entitled to a judgment of acquittal on 

Count I. 

The United States’ case-in-chief consisted namely of the testimony of five witnesses, 

which incorporated other evidence including security footage of Defendants’ arrest, pictures of 

the damage caused to the Y-12 site and the evidence seized, edited prison calls made by 

Defendants, and video clips of interviews with the Defendants.   

The first witness called by the government, Steven C. Erhart, the National Nuclear 

Security Administration (NNSA) manager of the Y-12 nuclear weapons Production Office in 

Oak Ridge, testified as to the Y-12 facility, described its function as a nuclear weapons 

production facility, and stated he believed the Y-12 facility to be an important part of the 

country’s national defense.  See Transcript of Record, Doc. 192, pp. 49-56.  Additionally, Mr. 

Erhart testified as to the disruption caused to Y-12 as a result of the July 28th incident, including 

that the facility had to go fully secure on the day of the intrusion, that there was a fifteen day 

complete stand down of operations at Y-12 to deal with preexisting deficiencies in the security at 
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the facility,3 and that there was a delay and rescheduling of a shipment that was scheduled for the 

day of Defendants’ actions.  Id. at 75-77.   

However, nothing in Mr. Erhart’s testimony of these disruptions showed that Defendants 

had the requisite intent to cause such disruptions or that these disruptions were even foreseeable 

consequences of Defendants’ actions.   

On the contrary, Mr. Erhart admitted on cross-examination that it would have been 

virtually impossible for Defendants to foresee repercussions such as a delayed delivery or a 

fifteen-day shut down due to the complete breakdown in security at the facility, a preexisting 

problem at Y-12 which was not known to anyone much less the Defendants.  When asked 

whether the fact that a shipment was coming in would be knowable to people in the general 

public, Mr. Erhart answered no.  Id. at 98.  Therefore, such a delay could not have been 

foreseeable to Defendants.   

Further, when asked, “On the day it happened, did you think it was possible for three 

unarmed senior citizens to get through all these systems to get to the HEUMF without being 

touched, without being stopped, without being deterred at all by any of these systems?”, Mr. 

Erhart answered, “I was very surprised by the reports.”  Id. at 96-97.   

If the NNSA manager at Y-12 could not have foreseen the fact that there would be such a 

vast security breakdown at Y-12, then it hardly seems possible that the three Defendants could 

have foreseen such security problems, which is what caused the fifteen day shut down.      

                                                        
3 On cross examination, Mr. Erhart testified that the “three unarmed senior citizens” gave “an 
important wake-up call” and revealed a “security culture of complacency” that had been in 
existence at Y-12 for some time prior to the July 28th incident, including “weaknesses in contract 
and resource management,” “a substantial backlog of degraded and/or non-operational security 
equipment,” “inoperative cameras,” “periodic testing of security features was not performed,” 
“fractured management structure appeared to have led to conflicting priorities,” “contractor 
governance and federal oversight failed to identify and correct early indicators of the multiple 
systems breakdowns.” See Transcript of Record, Doc. 192, pp. 91, 94-95.  
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The second and third witnesses for the United States, Sergeant Chad T. Riggs and former 

Security Police Officer Kirk Garland, both testified as to what happened the night of July 28, 

2012 and identified Defendants in security footage from the night of the incident, as well as the 

evidence seized at the scene.   The government’s fourth witness, General Rodney Johnson, 

deputy manager for security operations and emergency services at Y-12, testified as to the types 

of repairs and the costs of such repairs for the damage the Defendants caused to the Y-12 site.  

Again, nothing in the testimony of these three witnesses indicated Defendants had the specific 

intent to interfere with the national defense of the United States. 

The government’s final witness, Special Agent Ryan Baker with the Department of 

Energy, testified as to the events he witnessed when coming to the scene later in the morning on 

July 28, 2012.  Again, nothing in his testimony showed that Defendants had the intent to harm 

the national defense of the United States.  During his testimony, the Government introduced clips 

from calls the Defendants made from prison, as well as video clips of media interviews 

Defendants gave after their release from prison.4  Neither the video clips nor the calls showed 

that Defendants had the conscious desire to harm the country’s national defense or that 

Defendants knew that harm to the national defense was practically certain to result from their 

actions.  If anything, the prison calls demonstrate Defendants’ amazement at getting as far as 

they did into the Y-12 facility. 

When viewed in aggregate, the evidence presented in the Government’s case-in-chief 

shows that Defendants did in fact cut through fences and enter the Y-12 facility, and once there, 

engage in peaceful and symbolic actions of disarmament and protest against nuclear weapons.  

Defendants have readily admitted they took such actions from the start.   

                                                        
4 Note that the content of prison phone call clips and the video interview clips is not transcribed 
in the transcript of the trial provided to the parties (Doc. 192). 
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Additionally, the Government’s evidence shows the manifest nonviolent nature of the 

Defendants in taking these actions.  Throughout the entire incident and their subsequent arrest, 

Defendants never acted in a way that was violent or dangerous.  As the Government’s own 

evidence shows, Defendants did not bring any weapons with them onto the Y-12 facility.  See 

Transcript of Record, Doc. 192, pp. 187-88.  They did not make any threats.  Id.  When 

confronted by Kirk Garland, the first security officer on the scene, Defendants bowed and read to 

Mr. Garland from the Bible.  Id. at 183.  They did not run or resist arrest.  Id. at 187.  In fact, Mr. 

Garland described Defendants as “passive.”  See id. at 189.  Mr. Garland testified that based on 

Defendants’ actions, he immediately knew what he had—peace protestors.  Id. at 182, 190. 

From Defendants’ actions, as shown by the Government’s evidence, it can be reasonably 

inferred that Defendants had the intent to enter the Y-12 facility and engage in peaceful and 

symbolic acts of protest against nuclear weapons.  However, such intent is not equivalent to the 

specific intent required by 18 U.S.C. § 2155—the intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the 

national defense of the United States.   

 The Government also presented a great deal of evidence regarding the disruption that 

Defendants’ actions caused to Y-12, which they contend amounts to interference with the 

national defense of the United States.   

However, this evidence of disruption alone is insufficient to show intent to “interfere with 

what may commonly be taken as a country’s activities of national preparedness,” and is 

especially insufficient to prove it beyond a reasonable doubt.   

As this Honorable Court stated: “If they go in and all they intend to do is sing songs, and 

they actually disrupt the national defense and the whole country’s national defense system gets 

shut down, they’re not guilty as this statute is written.”  See Transcript of Record, Doc. 192, pp. 
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278-279.   

In order to prove the requisite specific intent here, the government has to show something 

more than that Defendants’ actions caused a disruption to Y-12; it must present substantial 

evidence that such a disruption to Y-12 was foreseeable to defendants—that Defendants knew 

that such harm was practically certain to follow from their actions.  The Government failed to do 

that here.  As set forth above, Defendants could not have foreseen that their actions would cause 

the disruptions that actually occurred at Y-12 following their intrusion.  As Mr. Erhart testified, 

the fact that there was a shipment scheduled for the day of the incident was not knowable to the 

Defendants at the time they took their actions.  Furthermore, he stated that the fact that these 

three Defendants were able to get as far as they did into the complex due to the complete 

breakdown of security at the facility was not even foreseeable to NNSA on the day the incident 

occurred, thus it would be a stretch to say Defendants could have foreseen this security 

meltdown which is what lead to the fifteen day shut down of operations.   

Finally, it is important to point out that the prosecution failed to prove that any actual 

damage was caused to the national defense of the United States.  The Government put on some 

evidence regarding the disruption that was caused to Y-12, but failed to offer any evidence on 

the question of whether the work at Y-12 is actually necessary for the preparedness of the 

national defense.  The Government’s case relied on the faulty assumption that just because Y-12 

is a national defense facility, any disruption to it automatically equals damage to the national 

defense of the United States.  For example, the Government claims that the delay in the shipment 

from Pantex was damage to national defense preparedness.  However, the government failed to 

offer any specific information as to what the shipment was actually carrying.  Absent any 

evidence or testimony regarding the specific nature and contents of that shipment, the 
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Government’s claim that it was delayed merely shows an inconvenience to the Government, not 

damage to the national defense of the United States.  Certainly in order to show real harm to the 

national defense of the United States, the Government has a higher burden than simply saying Y-

12 is a national defense facility—it must show actual harm to the national defense, something it 

failed to do in this case.5 

Based on the foregoing, even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

government, the United States has failed to prove at all, let alone beyond a reasonable doubt, 

that defendants intended to interfere with or injure the national defense of the United States.  The 

Government’s evidence merely leads to the reasonable inference that Defendants intended to 

enter Y-12 without permission in order to symbolically protest nuclear weapons.  Such intent 

does not meet the requirements for conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 2155.  

 
 
IV.  THE EIGHTH AND TENTH CIRCUIT CASES OF KABAT AND PLATTE ARE NOT 
BINDING IN THIS MATTER, AND THIS COURT SHOULD NOT FOLLOW THESE 
CIRCUITS’ FLAWED INTERPRETATION OF THE RULE 29 STANDARD 
 
 As there are only a few cases in which civilian peace protestors have ever been 

prosecuted under Section 2155, the Eighth and Tenth Circuits are the only Circuits that have 

addressed similar challenges to the sufficiency of the Government’s evidence with regard to the 

intent requirement of 18 U.S.C. § 2155.  See United States v. Kabat, 797 F.2d 580 (8th Cir. 

1986); United States v. Platte, 401 F.3d 1176 (2005).   

In both of these cases, Defendants argued that the United States failed to present 

                                                        
5 This Court must recall that Defendants were specifically precluded from putting on any 
evidence about the devastating effects of nuclear weapons and their illegality in pre-trial rulings.  
It would be manifestly unfair to both preclude defendants from putting on any evidence about 
nuclear weapons and to allow them to be convicted of intentionally damaging the national 
defense without the prosecution meeting its burden of proof.   
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sufficient evidence to prove Defendants had the intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the 

national defense of the United States beyond a reasonable doubt, and in both cases the Courts of 

Appeal held that there was sufficient evidence to find the requisite specific intent.  However, 

Defendants submit that these cases do not support a similar finding in this case for the reasons 

set forth in detail below.  

As a preliminary matter, under the principle of stare decisis, this Court is not bound to 

adhere to the opinions and rulings of any other Courts of Appeal besides the Sixth Circuit.  

United States v. Carney, et al., 387 F.3d 436, 444 n. 7 (6th Cir. 2004).  Decisions from other 

Circuits are merely advisory, not binding precedent.  Id.  As such, the decisions by the Eighth 

and Tenth Circuits in Kabat and Platte respectively are not binding on this Court.  And while it 

is true that such decisions can be used as guidance by courts in other Circuits, Defendants submit 

that for the reasons set forth below, it would be a tremendous mistake for this Court to follow the 

holdings in Kabat and Platte. 

Taking the Tenth Circuit’s decision in United States v. Platte first, the Tenth Circuit held 

that the evidence presented in that case was sufficient from which a jury could infer that 

Defendant peace protestors had the requisite specific intent to interfere with the national defense 

of the United States under Section 2155.  To support this decision, the Tenth Circuit pointed to 

two main pieces of evidence from which it believed jurors could infer the requisite intent: (1) 

“signs on the fence warning that deadly force was authorized against intruders would have 

alerted them that their entry would elicit a vigorous response”; and (2) “Defendants’ admitted 

purpose of seeking publicity for their opposition to the missiles, [from which] the jury could 

infer that Defendants desired the publicity that would likely attend a major disruption.”  Platte, 

401 F.3d at 1180.  Based solely on these two pieces of evidence, the Tenth Circuit reasoned that 
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“the jury could reasonably infer that Defendants were aware that their actions would almost 

inevitably cause a substantial disruption to military operations.”  Id. at 1181. 

Defendants admit this case has some factual similarities to Platte.  In both cases, 

Defendant protestors trespassed onto Government property to perform symbolic acts of 

disarmament and protest nuclear weapons.  Like in Platte, the Government in this case presented 

evidence of signs on the outer 229 boundary fence warning against trespassing.  See Transcript 

of Record, Doc. 192, pp. 72-73.  Additionally, Mr. Erhart testified that there are signs on the 

PIDAS fence warning that lethal force is authorized within that area.  Id. at 69-70.   

However, Defendants submit that the Tenth Circuit’s holding that a mere sign warning 

that deadly force is authorized against intruders is sufficient evidence from which a jury could 

find that Defendants had the intent to interfere with the national defense of the United States 

beyond a reasonable doubt is simply too far of a stretch and this Court should not follow such an 

elastic reading of Rule 29.   

The Platte decision is so overbroad that it could be read to allow sabotage charges to be 

sustained against anyone who trespasses onto government property and causes any damage at all 

in the course of publicly protesting against nuclear weapons.   

As this Court noted in post-trial argument about release it is not logical or reasonable to 

treat peaceful nonviolent protestors the same way as people whose aim is to actually cause 

serious damage or terrorize or interfere with the national security of the United States.   

Platte essentially eviscerates the standard under Rule 29 that the Government present 

substantial evidence of each element of a crime in order to prove each element beyond a 

reasonable doubt, making the Rule 29 motion just a pro forma motion without any real meaning 

for Courts.  To give such a flexible and minimal standard for the prosecution to meet its 
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requirement to prove a crime beyond a reasonable doubt essentially takes away the power of 

Courts to undergo any meaningful review of the prosecution’s case under Rule 29.  Certainly, 

Congress could not have intended such an interpretation of the requirements under Rule 29. 

Furthermore, this elastic standard undertaken by the Tenth Circuit in Platte undermines 

Rule 29’s important role as a safeguard for a defendant.  As stated in a leading treatise, a Rule 29 

“judgment for acquittal . . . is an important safeguard to the defendant.  It tests the sufficiency of 

the evidence against defendant, and avoids the risk that a jury may capriciously find him guilty 

though there is no legally sufficient evidence of guilt.” 2A Charles A. Wright, Fed. Prac. & Proc. 

Crim. § 461 (4th ed. 2013).   

The evidence relied on in Platte would not have met the Sixth Circuit’s standard of 

review in a Rule 29 motion.  As set forth in Section II, supra, the Sixth Circuit requires the 

prosecution to “present substantial evidence as to each element of the offense from which a jury 

could find the accused guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.”  Brown v. Davis, 752 F.2d 1142, 1145 

(6th Cir. 1985) (internal citation omitted) (emphasis added).  “Substantial evidence is more than 

a scintilla.  It means such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept to support a 

conclusion.  It is evidence affording a substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be 

reasonably inferred.” United States v. Martin, 375 F.2d 956, 957 (6th Cir. 1967).  The fact that 

there existed signs authorizing lethal force against intruders on the property Defendants 

unlawfully entered upon certainly cannot be held to be substantial evidence of intent to interfere 

with the national defense of the United States, and enough to sustain a conviction of Defendants 

beyond a reasonable doubt. 

 Turning to United States v. Kabat, the Eighth Circuit found that in that case that there 

existed sufficient evidence of Defendants’ intent to interfere with the national defense of the 
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United States to support Defendants’ convictions under Section 2155.  United States v. Kabat, 

797 F.2d 580, 588 (8th Cir. 1986).   

Kabat is of no help at all in the determination of this motion.  It is both legally and 

factually distinguishable from the case at hand.  As close examination will show, Kabat is not a 

Rule 29 decision and thus the holding adds nothing to this Rule 29 motion. 

First, as a legal matter, in holding that the evidence was sufficient to find that Defendants 

had the requisite intent to injure the national defense of the United States, the Eighth Circuit in 

Kabat reviewed all the evidence presented at trial, not just evidence presented in the 

Government’s case-in-chief, including express testimony by Defendants regarding their intent on 

entering the premises.  See Kabat, 797 F.2d at 585 (“Furthermore, the government's case does 

not rest solely on inferences from the acts committed. The defendants, through their opening and 

closing statements and testimony, their comments at the time of arrest, and the messages they left 

at the missile sites, have continuously declared that their intent was to ‘disarm’ the missiles.”).   

In Kabat, the Defendants readily admitted through their testimony that they intended not 

only to symbolically disarm the weapons they were protesting against, but also that they intended 

to try and actually disarm the missiles.   

For example, one Defendant testified “that although his group did not know how much 

damage it would be able to do and would have been satisfied with symbolic disarmament, ‘If 

there was real disarmament took place [,] from my point of view, it would have been better. 

That's what I tried to do.’”  Id.  Another Defendant testified that the group “attempted to actually 

disarm in every way possible, everything that we could do that would render this weapon 

unusable was done to the best of our humble and whatever ability.”  Id.  He further testified that 

the group had purchased tools to bring with them that they believed would be useful for actual 
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disarmament.  Id.  From these statements regarding Defendants’ desire to actually render the 

missiles useless, the Eighth Circuit found that Defendants had the requisite intent to interfere 

with U.S. defense policies.  Id.  No such explicit testimony of intent to actually interfere with 

national defense material by the Defendants exists in this case, and certainly not in the 

Government’s case-in-chief.  Therefore, this line of the Eighth Circuit’s reasoning cannot be 

followed in this case.   

 Second, Kabat is factually distinguishable from the case at hand.  As noted above, the 

Defendants in Kabat brought tools they believed would be useful in actually disarming the 

missiles they were protesting against.  Kabat, 797 F.2d at 585.  Furthermore, Defendants used 

these tools to actually damage three radar devices, locks controlling access to the missile for 

maintenance, and the concrete launch lid over the missile.  Id. at 582.   

From these facts, along with Defendants’ stated intent to actually disarm set forth above, 

the Eighth Circuit was able to find an inference of intent to interfere with the national defense 

sufficient to meet the Government’s burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.   

In contrast, the evidence from the Government’s case-in-chief shows that Defendants in 

this case did not bring such weapons with them in entering Y-12 and did not cause that type of 

damage to actual national defense instruments.  They brought symbolic items only—roses, 

Bibles, candles, household hammers, banners, baby bottles of blood—and the damage caused 

was to the fences they cut and the exterior of buildings they sprayed symbolic messages on.   

Such facts do not allow the same inferences regarding intent that the Eighth Circuit held 

to be sufficient proof (along with their actual statements regarding their intent) of Defendants’ 

intent to interfere with the national defense.  

Defendants’ actions of protest at Y-12 simply show that they intended to protest and 
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symbolically disarm nuclear weapons, not interfere with the national defense.   

 Therefore, because the Eighth and Tenth Circuits’ decisions in Kabat and Platte are not 

persuasive, helpful or binding on this Court and because, as set forth above, the reasoning 

supplied by those Courts in upholding the sufficiency of the evidence in those cases was wrong 

or distinguishable from this case, this Court should not follow the holdings in those cases.  

 

V. CONCLUSION 

In conclusion, Sixth Circuit precedent does not allow this Court to deny this Rule 29 

motion.  Not a single government witness offered evidence on the intent to harm the national 

defense.  The national defense was not harmed.  The Kabat case offers no support for the 

government.  The Platte case does not comply with the requirements of the Sixth Circuit.   

For the reasons set forth above, Defendants respectfully request that this Honorable Court 

review the evidence presented by the United States in its case-in-chief.  Defendants submit that 

in reviewing the Government’s evidence, and even in viewing it in the light most favorable to the 

Government, this Court will find that such evidence is simply insufficient to prove Defendants 

had the requisite intent to interfere with the national defense of the United States beyond a 

reasonable doubt.  As such, Defendants must be acquitted of their conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 

2155. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

s/ William P Quigley 
William P. Quigley, admitted pro hac vice 
Loyola University New Orleans 
7214 St. Charles Avenue 
New Orleans, LA 70118 
Quigley77@gmail.com 
504-710-3074 
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